## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### \* \* \* \* \*

DONTE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

S.C. CASE NO. 651 Bectronically Filed Jan 09 2015 11:29 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

# APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE JUDGE ELISSA CADISH, PRESIDING

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Issues Presented for Review v
Jurisdictional Statement
Statement of the Case
Statement of Facts
Arguments
I
II
III
IV
V
VI
VII
VII
IX
X
XII
XIII
XIV
XV
XVI
XVII
XVIII
XIX
XX
XXI
XXII
XXIII

XXIV
XXV
XXVI
XXVII
XXVIII
XXIX
Conclusion
Certificate of Compliance
Certificate of Service

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### **UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT**

Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S. Ct. 2521, 65 L. Ed. 2d 581 (1980. . . . . . . 49 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d. 69 (1986) .... 32 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 10 L. Ed 2d 215, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963) ..... 68 Buchanan v. Angelone, 522 U.S. 269, 118 S. Ct. 757, 139 L. Ed. 2d 702 (1998)111 Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S.39, 111 S. Ct. 328, 112 L. Ed. 2d 339 (1990) ..... 89 Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 Sup. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315, 39 L. Ed.2d. 347, 94 Sup. Ct. 1105 (1974) 66 Dennis v. United States, 339 U.S. 152, 70 Sup. Ct. 519, 94 L. Ed. 734 (1950) . 49 Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415,13 L. Ed. 2d. 934, 85 Sup. Ct. 1074 (1965) . 66 Etelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S. Ct. 475, 116 L. Ed. 2d 385 (1991) . . . . 89 Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985) ..... 125 Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S. Ct. 2909, 49 L. Ed. 2d 859 (1976) .... 122 Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805, 111 L.Ed. 2d. 638, 110 Sup. Ct. 3139 (1989) . . 67 Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 131 L. Ed. 2d 490, 115 S. Ct. 1555 (1995) .... 68 Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 31 L. Ed 2d 104, 92 S. Ct. 763 (1972) . . 68 Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. 530, 90 L. Ed. 2d. 514, 106 S. Ct. 2056 (1996) ..... 67

Marshall v. Loneerger, 459 U.S. 422, 103 Sup. Ct. 843, 74 L. Ed. 2d. 646 (1983)49 Mathews v. Eldrige, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976) .... 125 Mills v. Maryland, 46 U.S. 367, 100 L. Ed. 2d 384, 108 Sup. Ct. 1860 (1988) 116 Morgan v. Illinois, 504 U.S. 716, 112 Sup. Ct. 2222, 119 L. Ed. 2d 492 (1992) 52 Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991) 122 Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2546, 162 L. Ed. 2d 360 (2005) . . 99 Rosales-Lopez v. US, 451 U.S. 182, 101 Sup. Ct. 1629, 68 L. Ed. 2d. 22 (1981) 54 Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 108 Sup. Ct. 2273, 101 L. Ed.2d 80 (1988) ... 50 Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S. Ct. 824, 13 L. Ed.2d 759 (1965) ..... 50 Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975) .... 32 Tennard v. Dertke, 542 U.S. 274, 124 S. Ct. 2562, 159 L. Ed. 2d 384 (2004) . . 99 Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 78 S. Ct. 590, 2 L. Ed. 2d 630 (1958) ..... 123 US v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 120 Sup. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d. 1792 Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994) .... 89 Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 Sup. Ct. 844, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841 (1985) . 49 Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2003) ... 99 <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2000) . 100 <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510, 88 Sup. Ct. 1770, 20 L. Ed. 2d 776 (1968) 49 **STATE OF NEVADA** 

<u>Alford v. State</u> , 111 Nev. 1409, 906 P.2d 714 (1995) 80
<u>Azbill v. State</u> , 88 Nev. 240, P.2d 1064 (1972) 119
<u>Beck v. State</u> , 105 Nev. 910, 784 P.2d 983 (1989) 72
Bennett v. State, 106 Nev. 135, 787 P.2d 797 (1990) 123
<u>Big Pond v. State</u> , 101 Nev. 1, 692 P.2d 1288 (1985)
<u>Binegar v. 8<sup>th</sup> Judicial District Court</u> , 112 Nev. 544, 915 P.2d 889 (1996) 106
<u>Bishop v. State</u> , 95 Nev. 511, 597 P.2d 273 (1979) 122
Bolden v. State, 121 Nev. 908, 124 P. 3d 191 (2005)
Bolin v. State, 114 Nev. 503, 960 P.2d 784 (1998) 89
Bonacci v. State, 96 Nev. 894, 620 P.2d 1244 (1980) 103
Brown v. State, 81 Nev. 397, 404 P.2d 428 (1965) 103
Burke v. State, 110 Nev. 1366, 887 P.2d 267 (1994) 30
<u>Busnell v. State</u> , 95 Nev. 570, 599 P.2d 1038 (1979) 119
Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 102 P.3d 71 (2004) 135
Byford v. State of Nevada, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000)
<u>Callier v. Warden</u> , 111 Nev. 976, 901 P.2d 619 (1995) 130

<u>Castillo v. State</u> , 114 Nev. 271, 956 P.2d 103 (1998) 64
<u>Cipriano v. State</u> , 111 Nev. 534, 894 P.2d 347 (1995)
<u>Colon v. State</u> , 113 Nev. 484, 938 P.2d 714 (1997) 79
<u>Crawford v. State</u> , 107 Nev. 345, 811 P.2d 67 (1991) 103
Daniels v. State, 119 Nev. 498, 78 P.3d 890 (2003) 80
<u>Dechant v. State</u> , 116 Nev. 918, 10 P.3d 108 (2000) 135
<u>Elvik v. State</u> , 114 Nev. 883, 985 P.2d 784 (1998)
Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 1926 P. 2d 265 (1996)
Ewish v. State, 110 Nev. 221, 871 P.2d 306 (1994) 130
<u>Ford v. State</u> , 102 Nev. 126, 717 P.2d 27 (1986) 59
Garner v. State, 116 Nev. 770; 6 P.3d 1013 (2000)
<u>Hampton v. Sheriff</u> , 95 Nev. 213, 591 P.2d 1146 (1979) 58
Hollaway v. State, 116 Nev. 732, 6 P.3d 987 (2000) 120
Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1991)
<u>Jimenez v. State</u> , 112 Nev. 610, 918 P.2d 687 (1996) 115
Johnson v. State, 82 Nev. 338, 418 P.2d 495 (1966)
<u>Kirksey v. Nevada</u> , 112 Nev. 980, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996)
Lobato v. Nevada, 120 Nev. 512, 96 P.3d 765 (2004)
Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 871 P. 2d 944 (1994)

<u>Mendoza v. State</u> , 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006) 56
<u>Mercado v. State</u> , 100 Nev. 535, 688 P.2d 305 (1984) 124
<u>Mitchell v. State</u> , 114 Nev. 1471, 971 P. 2d 813 (1998)
<u>Plunkett v. State</u> , 84 Nev. 145, 437 P.2d 92 (1968) 119
<u>Ransey v. State</u> , 100 Nev. 277, 680 P.2d 596 (1984) 62
Sanborn v. State, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991)
<u>Scott v. State</u> , 92 Nev. 552, 554 P.2d 735 (1976)
<u>Sharma v. Nevada</u> , 118 Nev. 648, 56 P. 3d 868 (2002)
<u>State of Nevada v. Love</u> , 109 Nev. 1136, 865 P.2d 322 (1993) 93
Stringer v. State, 108 Nev. 413, 836 P.2d 609 (1992) 130
Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 148 P.3d 778 (2006) 112
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 109 Nev. 849, 858 P.2d 843 (1993)
<u>Theriault v. State</u> , 92 Nev. 185, 547 P.2d 668 (1976) 80
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 121 Nev. 934, 125 P. 3d 627 (2005) 100
<u>Wright v. State of Nevada</u> , 94 Nev. 415, 581 P.2d 442 (1978) 56
NEVADA REVISED STATUTES
NRS 48.045
NRS 200.010
NRS 200.020

NRS 200.033 127
NRS 213.005
FEDERAL CIRCUITS
Agard v. Portuondo, 117 F.3d 696 (2 <sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1997)
Bloom v. Calderon, 132 F.3d 1267 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997) 100
Boyde v. Brown, 404 F.3d 1159 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) 100
Clayborn v. Lewis, 64 F. 3d 1373 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995) 100
Cooper v. Fitzharris, 586 F.2d 1325 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1978) 106
Daniels v. Woodford, 428 F.3d 1181 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005)
Harris Exrel. Ramseyer v. Wood, 94 F.3d 1432(9th Cir. 1995) 106
Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995) 100
Hoots v. Allsbrook, 785 F.2d 1214 (4th Cir.1986)
Jennings v. Woodford, 290 F.3d 1006 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) 100
Paine v. Massie, 339 F. 3d 1194 (10 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003) 100
Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007) 135
Roberts v. Dretke, 356 F.3d 632 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004) 100
Silva v. Woodford, 279 F.3d 8252 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) 100
<u>U.S. v. Necoechea</u> , 986 F.2d 1273 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) 135

United States v. Combs, 379 F.3d 564 (9th Cir. 2004)
Wallace v. Stewart, 184 F.3d 1112 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999) 100
OTHER JURISDICTIONS
Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (FL, 1985) 76
Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201 (FL, 1989)
State of Arizona v. Holder, 155 Ariz. 83, 745 P.2d 141(1987)

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL.</u>
- II. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO RAISE ON DIRECT</u> <u>APPEAL THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF JOHNSON'S JURY</u> <u>SELECTION PROCESS.</u>
- III. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>TRIAL COUNSEL FOR COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT AND</u> <u>FILE A MOTION TO DISMISS THE KIDNAPPING AS IT IS</u> <u>INCIDENTAL TO THE ROBBERY. MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED</u> <u>INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR</u> <u>FAILURE TO RAISE THIS ISSUE ON DIRECT APPEAL.</u>
- IV. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO RAISE THE ISSUE OF</u> <u>CHANGE OF VENUE ON DIRECT APPEAL.</u>
- V. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE OF COUNSEL TO RAISE</u> <u>ON DIRECT APPEAL THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING TO NOT</u> <u>ALLOW TRIAL COUNSEL TO INTRODUCE THE BIAS AND</u> <u>PREJUDICE OF THE STATE'S WITNESS.</u>
- VI. <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO</u> <u>RAISE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT REGARDING</u> <u>INTESTINAL FORTITUDE ON DIRECT APPEAL.</u>
- VII. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO RAISE ON APPEAL</u> <u>THE ADMISSION OF HEARSAY IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED</u> <u>STATES CONSTITUTION</u>.
- VIII. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR THE FAILURE TO RAISE ON</u> <u>DIRECT APPEAL THE STATE'S FAILURE TO REVEAL ALL OF</u> <u>THE BENEFITS THE STAR WITNESSES RECEIVED FROM THE</u> <u>STATE OF NEVADA IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS FIVE, SIX AND FOURTEEN.</u>

- IX. MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTORS REPEATED REFERENCE TO THE TRIAL PHASE AS THE GUILT PHASE. APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE THIS ISSUE ON DIRECT APPEAL.
- X. <u>MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON</u> INADMISSABLE EVIDENCE BEING PRESENTED PURSUANT TO.
- XI. MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- XII. <u>MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO REVERSAL OF HIS</u> <u>CONVICTIONS BASED UPON THE STATE'S INTRODUCTION OF</u> <u>OVERLY GRUESOME AUTOPSY PHOTOS.</u>
- XIII. MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL FOR TRIAL COUNSELS TO FAILURE TO OBJECT AND STATE ON THE RECORD WHAT TOOK PLACE DURING THE UNRECORDED BENCH CONFERENCES.
- XIV. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL DURING HIS THIRD AND FINAL PENALTY PHASE</u> <u>WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT</u> <u>MR. JOHNSON HAD PREVIOUSLY HAD A FINDING OF</u> <u>NUMEROUS MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH WERE</u> <u>NOT ARGUED TO AND FOUND BY THE JURY WHICH</u> <u>SENTENCED HIM TO DEATH IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH,</u> <u>EIGHT, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED</u> <u>STATES CONSTITUTION. APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS</u> <u>INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE THIS ISSUE ON APPEAL.</u>

- XV. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO RAISE ON DIRECT</u> <u>APPEAL THE DISTRICT COURT GIVING INSTRUCTION</u> <u>NUMBERS 5, 36, 37 IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND</u> <u>FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION. MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE</u> <u>ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR TRIAL COUNSELS FAILURE TO</u> <u>OFFER PROPER JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON MALICE.</u>
- XVI. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO RAISE ON</u> <u>DIRECT APPEAL THE COURTS OFFERING OF JURY</u> <u>INSTRUCTION 12.</u>
- XVII. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>TRIAL COUNSEL FOR FAILURE OF TRIAL COUNSEL TO OFFER</u> <u>A JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING MALICE.</u>
- XVIII. <u>MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON</u> <u>INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEREIN TRIAL</u> <u>COUNSEL FAILED TO PROPERLY INVESTIGATE IN THE THIRD</u> <u>PENALTY PHASE</u>.
- XIX. MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING AN INADMISSIBLE BAD ACT.
- XX. <u>TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR PROVIDING THE</u> <u>STATE A MITIGATION REPORT FROM TINA FRANCIS WHICH</u> <u>WAS USED TO IMPEACH A DEFENSE EXPERT.</u>
- XXI. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL FOR TRIAL COUNSEL TO DISAGREE AMONG</u> <u>THEMSELVES IN FRONT OF THE JURY.</u>
- XXII. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL REFFERED TO THE VICTIMS</u> <u>AS KID/KIDS.</u>

XXIII. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL WHEN HIS ATTORNEYS SUCCESSFULLY MOTIONED</u> <u>THE COURT FOR A BIFURCATED PENALTY HEARING.</u>

XXIV. <u>MR. JOHNSON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL FOR THE FAILURE TO OFFER A MITIGATION</u> <u>INSTRUCTION.</u>

XXV. <u>APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO</u> <u>RAISE ON APPEAL THE PROSECUTION IMPROPERLY</u> <u>IMPEACHING A DEFENSE WITNESS</u>.

XXVI. THE DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

XXVII. <u>MR. JOHNSON'S DEATH SENTENCE IS INVALID UNDER THE</u> <u>STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF</u> <u>DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION, AND A RELIABLE</u> <u>SENTENCE, BECAUSE THE NEVADA CAPITAL PUNISHMENT</u> <u>SYSTEM OPERATES IN AN ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS</u> <u>MANNER. U.S. CONST. AMENDS. V, VI, VIII AND XIV; NEV.</u> <u>CONST. ART. I SECS. 3, 6 AND 8; ART IV, SEC. 21.</u>

XXVIII. <u>MR. JOHNSON'S CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE</u> <u>ARE INVALID UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL</u> <u>CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS,</u> <u>EQUAL PROTECTION, TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL</u> <u>JURY AND A RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE</u> <u>PROCEEDINGS AGAINST HIM VIOLATED</u> <u>INTERNATIONAL LAW. U.S. CONST. AMENDS. V, VI VIII AND</u> <u>XIV; NEV. CONST. ART. I SECS. 3, 6 AND 8; ART IV, SEC. 21.</u>

XXIX. <u>MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO A REVERSAL OF HIS</u> <u>CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCE OF DEATH BASED UPON</u> <u>CUMULATIVE ERROR.</u>

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Mr. Johnson's Petition was filed on March 21, 2014 (A.A. Vol. 42 pp. 8184). Mr. Johnson filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 6, 2014 (A.A. Vol. 42 pp. 8203-8204).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On September 2, 1998, the Grand Jury returned a true bill indicting the defendant (A.A. Vol. 1 pp. 1-10). On September 16, 1998, a superceding indictment was filed (A.A. Vol. 2 pp. 278). On September 17, 1998, the defendant was formally arraigned before the Honorable Jeffery Sobel. The defendant waived his right to a trial within sixty days. The matter was set for trial on July 5, 1999.

On November 18, 1999, the State agreed to provide the inducements of the witnesses pursuant to the defense's motion to compel the disclosure of existence of benefits or cooperation with prosecution (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1347).

On June 5, 2000, trial commenced (A.A. Vol. 11 pp. 2603). On June 9, 2000, the jury returned guilty verdicts as to Count one, burglary while in possession of a firearm; Count two, conspiracy to commit robbery and/or kidnapping and/or murder; Counts three-six, Robbery with use of a deadly weapon; Count seven-ten, first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon; Counts eleven-fourteen, murder with use of a deadly weapon (A.A. Vol. 14 pp. 3239-3247).

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