#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DONTE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
May 07 2015 10:01 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Case No. 65168 Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar #004349 520 South Fourth Street, 2nd Fl. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 384-5563

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

# II. JOHNSON'S CLAIMS REGARDING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL DURING THE 2000 JURY TRIAL AND DIRECT APPEAL ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED

The State argues that Johnson's claims as to the 2000 jury trial and direct appeal are procedurally barred for which no good cause has been shown. The District Court addressed and denied the Petition, Supplemental Petition, and the Second Supplemental Petition on the merits.<sup>4</sup> 42 AA 8194. The State contends that while the District Court was correct in its result, it was incorrect in the rationale used in its denial.

"[I]f a judgment or order of a trial court reaches the right result, although it is based on an incorrect ground, the judgment or order will be affirmed on appeal". Wyatt v. State, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970); See also Bellon v. State, 121 Nev. 436, 443-44, 117 P.3d 176, 180 (2005) (noting that trial court's decision may be upheld if court reached right result even though it was based on incorrect grounds); Kraemer v. Kraemer, 79 Nev. 287, 291, 382 P.2d 394, 396 (1963) (holding that a correct result will not be reversed simply because it is based on the wrong reason).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The District Court stated that as there was not any binding authority on this issue, the "issue [is] still up in the air frankly." 35 AA 7533. The Court then determined that the time bar did not apply. <u>Id.</u> at 7534.

The latter part of Johnson's Opening Brief contains claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel regarding Johnson's third penalty hearing which took place in 2005 and his counsel that appealed the 2005 death sentences. The State submits that Johnson's claims regarding the effectiveness of his trial and appellate counsel from his third penalty hearing in 2005 are all timely. Remittitur following Johnson's direct appeal of his four death sentences was issued on January 28, 2008. Johnson v. State, 122 Nev. 1344, 148 P.3d 767 (2006). Accordingly, Johnson's proper person Petition filed on February 13, 2008 was timely filed.

However, Johnson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding his 2000 jury trial and the direct appeal of his 2000 convictions are procedurally barred. On December 18, 2002, this Court affirmed Johnson's convictions. This Court clearly affirmed Johnson's convictions, pursuant to a jury verdict, of four counts each of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon, and one count of burglary with use of a deadly weapon. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 787, 59 P.3d 450 (2002). Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the sentences for all of Johnson's convictions except the death sentences pursuant to the four counts of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. <u>Id</u>. The Supreme Court reversed the death sentences because the sentences were imposed by a three-judge panel of

district court judges, not a jury, and remanded for a new penalty hearing before a new jury. <u>Id</u>. Remittitur was issued on January 14, 2003.

A conviction qualifies as final when judgment has been entered, the availability of appeal has been exhausted, and a petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court has been denied or the time for the petition has expired. Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 (2002). The 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized that a conviction remains final even though a case may be sent back for re-sentencing. Phillips v. Vasquez, 56 F.3d 1030 (9th Cir. 1995). A conviction for murder is a final judgment even when the death penalty sentence has been reversed and is not yet final. People v. Jackson, 60 Cal.Rptr. 248, 250, 429 P.2d 600, 602 (1967). When a judgment is vacated only insofar as it relates to the death penalty, "the original judgment on the issue of guilt remains final during retrial of the penalty issue and during all appellate proceedings . . ." People v. Kemp, 111 Cal.Rptr. 562, 564, 517 P.2d 826, 828 (1974). Johnson's 2000 Judgment of Conviction was vacated only insofar as the death sentences were concerned and the convictions have remained valid and final.

Thus, the State submits that all of Johnson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding Johnson's 2000 jury trial and the direct appeal from the 2000 trial are all untimely and barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1). Johnson's Petition was

filed on February 13, 2008, nearly eight years after his convictions, and more than five years after the Nevada Supreme Court issued remittitur on his direct appeal.

Additionally, the State pleads laches and invokes the five-year time bar of NRS 34.800. Without a showing of both good cause and prejudice to overcome each of these bars, the district court has no choice but to dismiss the claims in Johnson's Petition regarding the 2000 trial and the direct appeal from that trial.

## Johnson's Petition is Time Barred as it Relates to the Jury Trial and Direct Appeal

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 34.726(1) reads:

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

Johnson's petition does not fall within this statutory time limitation. The Supreme Court of Nevada has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely filed direct appeal. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-34 (1998). In the instant case, Johnson filed a direct appeal from his Judgment of

Conviction and the Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and issued remittitur on January 14, 2003. Thus, the one-year time bar began to run from the date remittitur was issued – January 14, 2003.

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly construed. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 53 P.3d 901 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit. The Court declined to extend the prison mailbox rule adopted under Kellogg v. Journal Communications, 5 to petitions for post-conviction relief due to the longer period for filing petitions for post-conviction relief and because the one-year time limit for filing petitions for post-conviction relief may be excused by a showing of good cause and prejudice.

Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that the district court has *a duty* to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.3d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup><u>Kellogg v. Journal Communications</u>, 108 Nev. 474, 835 P.2d 12 (1992), allowed prisoners to use the date on which they delivered court papers to a prison official, rather than the date the papers were received to determine timeliness. The prison mailbox rule was applied to the strict 30 day jurisdictional time limit for filing a notice of appeal.

1070 (2005) (emphasis added). The Court found that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars "cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State." 121 Nev. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars, the rules *must* be applied.

In this case, Johnson filed his post-conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus outside of the one-year time limit. Johnson's Judgment of Conviction was entered on October 9, 2000. 19 AA 4631-35.<sup>6</sup> On January 14, 2003, the Nevada Supreme Court issued remittitur on Johnson's direct appeal of his Judgment of Conviction.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While Johnson uses the page numbers denoted with the NSC number from the instant case in his Opening Brief, the Table of Contents uses the original page numbers from what appears to be a separate and earlier appeal. As there is no new bates stamped NSC number on this page, the State has used the number matching the Table of Contents. However, throughout the Answering Brief the State has endeavored to use the new bates stamped page numbers where possible, in order to match Appellant's Opening Brief.

Johnson did not file his Second Petition until February 13, 2008, which is over **five years** after the issuance of remittitur. Therefore, all of Johnson's claims involving alleged errors occurring during Johnson's initial jury trial and the direct appeal from that trial, are precluded by NRS 34.726. Absent a showing of good cause for this extreme delay, Johnson's claim must be dismissed because of its tardy filing. Because Johnson fails to even allege good cause to overcome the procedural bars, as discussed *infra*, the district court should dismiss the claims in Johnson's Petition which are time-barred.

#### B. NRS 34.800 – Five Year Laches Rule

Nevada Revised Statutes 34.800 creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to the State if a defendant allows more than five years to elapse between the filing of the Judgment of Conviction and the filing of a post-conviction petition. The statute requires that the State plead laches in its motion to dismiss the petition. The State pleaded laches below. 34 AA 7454-55.

Johnson's Judgment of Conviction was filed on October 9, 2000. Since well over five (5) years have elapsed between the filing of Johnson's Judgment of Conviction and the filing of the Second Petition, NRS 34.800 directly applies in this case. NRS 34.800 was enacted to protect the State from having to find and call long lost witnesses whose once vivid recollections have faded and re-gather evidence that in many cases has been lost or destroyed because of the lengthy passage of time.

Thus, the State would suffer extreme prejudice if it were now required to bring this case to trial, as memories fade and witnesses disappear. There is a rebuttable presumption of prejudice for this very reason and the doctrine of laches must be applied in the instant matter. This Court should affirm the denial of the claims from trial and direct appeal based on the procedural bars.

## C. Johnson Cannot Show Good Cause Sufficient to Overcome the Application of the Procedural Bars

A petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving facts to demonstrate good cause to excuse the delay. State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 181, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003). "In order to demonstrate good cause, a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); citing Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 886-87, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994); Passanisi v. Director, 105 Nev. 63, 769 P.2d 72 (1989).

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